Ornwlapp

FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Olerk

LARRY D. FORD,

Petitioner,

Respondent.

vs.

Case No. 78,810

STATE OF FLORIDA,

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

OLEN P. GIFFORD
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR #0664261
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The habitual offender statute does not provide for enhancement of the sentence for a first-degree felony punishable by life. That category of crime was specifically omitted from the statute by the Legislature. Penal statutes must be strictly construed in favor of the defendant. Although the robbery statute cites to the habitual offender statute as a possible penalty, that citation is of no effect because first-degree felonies punishable by life were expressly omitted from the habitual offender statute. Additionally, a habitual felony offender is statutorily defined in part as "a defendant for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment. . . " armed robbery may already by punished by a life sentence, the same as the maximum habitual offender sentence for a first-degree felony, the offense is not one for which the court may impose a term of imprisonment extended beyond that which is otherwise authorized by statute.

In negotiating the plea, both parties believed that robbery with a firearm was an offense subject to the habitual offender statute. That was an incorrect assumption, rendering his plea invalid. He must be allowed to withdraw it. Additionally, if this Court in answering the second question certified in Burdick concludes that a life sentence is mandatory for this offense, petitioner's plea will have resulted in an illegal sentence.

Therefore, this Court should reverse the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below, answer the certified

question in the negative, reverse petitioner's judgment and sentence, and remand for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

PETITIONER'S CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES RESULTED FROM A PLEA AGREEMENT IN WHICH THE PARTIES AND COURT MISTAKENLY AGREED TO AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE, REQUIRING THAT HE HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO WITHDRAW THE PLEA.

Petitioner's plea of nolo contendere to armed robbery and false imprisonment in exchange for a total sanction of 10 years as a habitual violent offender obviously rests on an assumption that habitual offender sentencing is lawful for his offenses. That assumption is the subject of the certified question in this case. Herein, petitioner will argue first that armed robbery with a firearm is not a crime subject to enhancement under the habitual offender statute, and second, the parties mistaken assumption to the contrary is a mutual mistake of law rendering the plea invalid.

The first question comes to this Court following a confused course through the first district. In Johnson v. State, 568 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), the First District Court of Appeal held that the 1988 revised habitual offender statute did not apply to life felonies because that category of crimes was not included in the statute. In Gholston v. State, 16 FLW D46 (Fla. 1st DCA December 17, 1990), the court held that it did not apply to first-degree felonies punishable by life because they too were not included in the statute. ²

²In another context, the court held that a first degree felony punishable by life was properly scored as a life felony on (Footnote Continued)

In <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 584 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (en banc), <u>review pending</u>, Fla.S.Ct. no. 78,466, the court receded from <u>Gholston</u> and held that the habitual offender statute did apply to first-degree felonies punishable by life, even though they were not included in the statute.³

Finally, in <u>West v. State</u>, 16 FLW D2044 (Fla. 1st DCA August 7, 1991), <u>review pending</u>, case no. 78,570, the court reaffirmed its <u>Johnson</u> position and held that life felonies are not subject to the habitual offender sentencing because they are not included within the statute, and because a life sentence is already available as a penalty.

This confusing sequence of decisions prompts two responses: referees should usually stick with the first call they make, because it is most likely the correct one; and the same statute cannot be read two different ways.

The starting point in resolving any question of statutory construction is the wording of the statute itself. Section 775.084 provides that once a defendant is found to be an habitual offender or a violent habitual offender, the following penalties apply:

(4)(a) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), shall sentence the habitual felony offender as follows:

⁽Footnote Continued) a sentencing guidelines scoresheet. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 1134 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

³Judge Ervin dissented, and petitioner will relay heavily upon his views in this brief.

- 1. In the case of a <u>felony of the first</u> degree, for life.
- 2. In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a term of years not exceeding 30.
- 3. In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term of years not exceeding 10.
- (b) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), may sentence the habitual violent felony offender as follows:
- 1. In the case of a <u>felony of the first</u> degree, for life, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 15 years.
- 2. In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a term of years not exceeding 30, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 10 years.

 3. In the case of a felony of the third
- 3. In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term of years not exceeding 10, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 5 years.

Section 775.084(4),(5), Florida Statutes (emphasis added).

Nowhere in the habitual offender statute itself does the category of crime at issue here, first-degree felony punishable by life, appear. Thus, the Legislature's omission of this degree of crime from the statute evinces its clear intent to exclude this category, especially since such crimes are already punishable by life in Section 775.082(3)(b), Florida Statutes.

In addition, it must be remembered that in construing penal statutes, the most favorable construction to the accused must be used. 49 Fla. Jur. 2d Statutes §195; Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes:

The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

This Court recently applied these principles in <u>Perkins v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 576 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1991) to find that cocaine trafficking is not a "forcible felony" because it was not defined as such by the Legislature.

The lower tribunal's response to this argument in <u>Burdick</u> was both predictable and superficial. The court found that a first-degree felony punishable by life is subject to habitual offender enhancement as a first-degree felony. The court did not mention its contradictory holding in <u>Jones</u>, <u>supra</u>, note 1, but merely cited to Section 775.081(1), Florida Statutes, for the proposition that first-degree felonies punishable by life do not exist as a separate degree of crime.

Judge Ervin's dissent in <u>Burdick</u> sets forth the legislative history and the proper analysis:

Turning to the second point, that the lower court erred in imposing an enhanced life sentence upon appellant because the substantive underlying offense for which he was convicted is punishable by a maximum penalty of life imprisonment, I agree and would reverse. In my judgment it is illogical to assume that the legislature intended for a trial judge to have the authority to impose an enhanced sentence of life upon one who was already subject to a maximum sentence of life imprisonment for the offense for which he or she was convicted. My conclusion is supported by the legislative history of both sections 775.082 and 775.084, Florida Statutes.

Section 775.082(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1987), provides two methods of punishing persons convicted of felonies of the first degree: "[B]y a term of imprisonment not exceeding 30 years or, when specifically provided by statute, by imprisonment of a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment[.]" See also Jones v. State, 546

So.2d 1134, 1135 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). When the 1971 legislative session enacted in the same legislative act section 775.082, establishing penalties for various categories of crimes, as well as section 775.084, creating the habitual offender classifications, the trial court's discretion to impose a maximum sentence within the range specified for all noncapital felonies was left unimpaired and remained so until October 1, 1983, the effective date of quideline sentencing.

Additionally, during the special session of November 1972, the legislature amended section 775.081 by designating "life felony" as an additional category to the list of felonies, and amended section 775.082 by adding subsection (4)(a), establishing as the penalty for a life felony "a term of imprisonment in the state prison for life, or for a term of years not less than thirty." Ch. 72-724, Sections 1,2, Laws of Fla. In 1983, the penalty for a life felony was amended, providing for life felonies committed before October 1, 1983, a term of imprisonment for life or a term of years not less than thirty, and for life felonies committed on or after October 1, 1983, a term of imprisonment for life or a term of imprisonment not exceeding forty years. Ch. 83-87, Section 1, Laws of Fla. The obvious intent of such amendment was to make Section 775.082((3)(a), Florida Statutes (1983), consistent with the newly created guideline sentencing, providing at Section 921.001(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1983), that the guidelines were to be applied to all felonies committed on or after October 1, 1983, except capital felonies, and to all felonies committed prior to October 1, 1983, except capital felonies and life felonies, when sentencing occurred subsequent to such date and the defendant chose to be sentenced under the guidelines. Ch. 83-87, Section 2, Laws of Fla.

Even though the legislature as early as 1972 created the classification of life felonies, it never amended the habitual felony offender statute to include enhanced sentencing for life felonies. As

previously stated in this dissent, the legislature was no doubt aware that the trial courts' discretion to impose sentence for the substantive offense within the maximum range remained unaffected until the creation of guideline sentencing. Consequently, the result reached by the majority is that persons who commit severe felony offenses categorized as life felonies after October 1, 1983 are eligible for guideline sentencing, whereas persons such as appellant who commit first-degree felonies punishable for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment are denied such consideration upon being classified as habitual felons, because section 775.084(4)(e) excludes habitual felony sentences from guideline sentencing and other benefits. My thesis is, of course, not that the legislature could not validly make this kind of distinction -- only that it did not intend to make it.

Burdick, 584 So.2d at 1040-1041 (Ervin, J., dissenting) (footnotes omitted).

The state also argued below that because the statutes defining crimes as first-degree felonies punishable by life refer to the habitual offender statute as a possible penalty, the Legislature intended for that enhanced punishment to apply. Again, Judge Ervin's dissent in <u>Burdick</u> sets forth the legislative history and the proper analysis:

The reference in section 810.02(2) to section 775.084 appears in all noncapital felony and misdemeanor statutes listed under Title XLVI of the Florida Statutes. Thus, even though offenses which are designated life felonies were never made subject to enhanced sentencing under the

⁴e.g., the statute defining armed robbery, Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes, and the one defining armed burglary, Section 810.02(2), Florida Statutes.

habitual felony statute, reference to such statute is nonetheless made within each statute prescribing the penalty for life felonies. See, e.g., Section 787.01(3)(a)5., Fla.Stat. (1980) (kidnapping); Section 794.011(3), Fla. Stat. (1989) (sexual battery). Additionally, although section 775.084 had formerly provided enhanced sentencing for habitual misdemeanants, the legislature, effective October 1, 1988, deleted the provisions relating to habitual misdemeanants. Ch. 88-131, Sections 6,9, Laws of Fla. the 1989 Florida Statutes, however the legislature failed to delete references to section 775.084 in providing punishments for specified misdemeanors. See, e.g., Section 784.011(2), Fla.Stat. (1989) (assault), Section 784.03(2), Fla.Stat. (1989) (battery). Considering the legislature's wholesale indiscriminate reference to the habitual offender statute throughout the Florida Statutes, many of which are inapplicable, I do not consider that the state can take any comfort in the reference made in section 810.02(2) to section 775.084.

Burdick, 1584 So.2d at 1041 (Ervin, J., dissenting).

Another consideration, not expressly addressed in <u>Burdick</u>, compels the conclusion urged here. Section 775.084(1)(a) and (1)(b), Florida Statutes, defines habitual felony offenders and habitual violent felony offenders in part as defendants "for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment..." For a first-degree felony, that extended term is life. S. 775.084(4)(a)1 and (4)(b)1. However, robbery with a firearm is a crime already punishable by a life sentence. S. 812.13(2)(a). Thus, the offense is not one for which the court may impose a term of imprisonment extended beyond that which is otherwise authorized by statute. Robbery with a firearm and other "first-degree felonies punishable by life" are distinct from

first—, second— and third—degree felonies for which the habitual offender statute provides the means to extend the maximum authorized punishment beyond what those who commit such felonies could otherwise receive. From this perspective, the question is not whether first—degree felonies punishable by life are first—degree felonies, but whether they are offenses for which the habitual offender statute authorizes an extended term of imprisonment. Because the same term of imprisonment is authorized elsewhere, the question must be answered in the negative.

For the reasons expressed herein, this Court should hold that robbery with a firearm (as well as other first-degree felonies for which a life sentence is authorized) is not an offense subject to habitual offender sentence enhancement.

If this Court rules as urged above, petitioner must be allowed to withdraw his plea because it was based on a mistaken assumption that he could be habitualized for armed robbery. This result is guided by Jolly v. State, 392 So.2d 54 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). Jolly involved a mistake of law similar to the one here. The defendant pled guilty to shooting into an occupied vehicle and received a three-year mandatory minimum sentence on the assumption by both parties and the court that the sentence was statutorily mandated. It wasn't. The appellate court held that when a plea incorporates negotiations based on a material mistake of law, the plea is invalid and no legal sentence may be imposed. The sole remedy is either to remand and allow the the defendant to choose whether "to be bound by the

misconceived bargain." Id. at 56. If he does not, the plea must be set aside and the original charges reinstated. Petitioner's plea, like Jolly's, was based on a mutual mistake of law that the negotiated sentence was authorized by statute.

Accord, Forbert v. State, 437 So.2d 1079, 1081 (Fla. 1983)

(guilty plea based on mistaken understanding that resulting sentence is lawful requires that defendant have opportunity to withdraw the plea when later challenging the sentence).

Another mistaken assumption also vitiates the plea. In Burdick, the court certified a second question:

IS A LIFE SENTENCE PERMISSIVE OR MANDATORY UNDER THE 1988 AMENDMENT TO SECTION 775.084(4)(a)(1), FLORIDA STATUTES?

584 So.2d at 1039. Ford agreed to a 10-year sentence under the provision. If this Court concludes that a life sentence is mandatory, as did the court of appeal in Burdick, appellant will have received an illegal sentence.

Below, Ford raised the issue of the mandatory vs. permissive life sentence for the first time on rehearing. The court of appeal declined to address the issue, noting the issue had not been briefed and ruling that the challenge "must be raised initially by way of a motion to withdraw or a motion for post-conviction relief." 16 FLW at D2607. While wishing to show no disrespect to the court of appeal, petitioner maintains that this sub-issue may now be raised before this Court, despite its tardy appearance in the proceedings below. As recently held by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, following accepted precedent, a defendant cannot acquiesce in an illegal

Purvis v. Lindsey, 16 FLW D2673 (Fla. 4th DCA October 16,
1991).

Therefore, if this Court holds either that Ford's armed robbery offense did not subject him to habitual offender enhancement, or that a life sentence is mandatory for his offense under the habitual offender statute, his plea rests on mistaken assumptions and has resulted in an illegal sentence. In either event, the judgment and sentence must be vacated and this cause must be remanded to the trial court so the parties may be given an opportunity to rescind their misconceived bargain.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments contained herein and the authorities cited in support thereof, Petitioner requests that this Honorable Court reverse his convictions and remand to the trial court for further proceedings.