12

FILED SIE J. WHITE NOV 25 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LARRY D. FORD,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 78,810

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 904/488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lead case addressing the certified question is <u>Burdick</u> <u>v. State</u>, review pending, no. 78,466. The question is also addressed in numerous other pending cases, including <u>Weems v.</u> <u>State</u>, 582 So.2d 830 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,543. Consistent with its arguments in these previous cases, the state argues as follows.

felony offender statute (violent and The habitual nonviolent) expressly applies to first degree felonies. Merely because the more serious first degree felonies may be punishable by life in prison does not change their classification as first Section 775.081, Florida Statutes, does not degree felonies. specify a separate category or type of offense for first degree felonies punishable by life. No such classification of felony exists in Florida. Robbery with a firearm is still a felony of the first degree. Punishment under the habitual felon statute is expressly authorized by cross-reference in the armed robbery Therefore, petitioner was properly sentenced as an statute. habitual violent felon.

All of the district courts have concluded that the habitual felon statute applies to first degree felonies punishable by life. The consistency of those decisions weighs in favor of the opinion below.

Having addressed the certified question, the state will then argue two additional points.

- 3 -

There was no constitutional or statutory right to appeal from this no contest plea.

Appellate counsel's untimely claim that the sentence and plea are illegal should not be addressed by any court until the petitioner himself has initiated a motion to withdraw.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER FIRST DEGREE FELONIES PUNISHABLE BY LIFE ARE SUBJECT TO THE HABITUAL FELON STATUTE (RESTATED).

The certified question should be answered yes.

Petitioner was charged with robbery with a deadly weapon, kidnapping, and battery. He pled no contest without reservation to robbery with a deadly weapon and false imprisonment. Pursuant to the recommendations of the parties, he received a sentence of ten years imprisonment as a habitual violent felony offender. Had he been sentenced under the guidelines, the range was, at minimum, twenty-two years to life. (Defense counsel advised the trial court that this was well below what Ford actually scored but that it did not matter in view of the favorable plea bargain.) R 6, R 101.

There is no motion to withdraw the plea in the record. Nevertheless, appellate counsel now argues that the plea bargain and sentence of ten years are invalid because, he asserts, (1) a first degree felony punishable by life is not subject to the habitual felony statute and (2) a life sentence is mandatory for this offense. Thus, counsel reasons, the ten-year sentence is illegal and the plea must be withdrawn.

Felonies are classified pursuant to section 775.081(1), Florida Statutes, as Capital, Life, and felonies of the first,

- 5 -

second and third degree. There is no separate category of first degree felony punishable by life. However, case law logically holds that a first degree felony punishable by life is simply a variety of a first degree felony. See <u>Jones v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 1134, 1135 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) ("[T]here is no <u>distinct</u> felony classification of 'first degree felony which may be punishable by life,' but only a first degree felony which may be punishable in one of two ways."). This sensible reading of the statute would appear to be sufficient, without more, to defeat petitioner's argument that a first degree felony punishable by life is not a first degree felony subject to the habitual felon statute. There is more, however.

The Legislature, in §812.13(2)(a), could have declared armed robbery a life felony instead of a first degree felony punishable by life. It did not do so. The only remaining possibility is that the Legislature simply authorized a more severe penalty for armed robbery, while still classifying the offense as a first degree felony. This logic is consistent with §775.087, Florida Statutes, which reclassifies first degree felonies to life felonies when a firearm is used, and use of a firearm is not an essential element of the offense. Here, use of a firearm is an essential element, therefore Appellant's offense could not be reclassified. То compensate, and for consistency, the legislature authorized a life sentence.

The habitual felon statute, section 775.084, is expressly made applicable to the offense here. Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes, under which Appellant was convicted, provides:

- 6 -

(2)(a) If in the course of committing the robbery the offender carried a firearm or other deadly weapon, then the robbery is a felony of the first degree, punishable by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment, or as provided in §775.082, §775.083, or §775.084. [e.s.]

Given the explicit statutory language making the substantive offense subject to habitual felon sentencing, petitioner's argument that the offense is not subject to such sentencing is simply implausible. All five of the district courts of appeal have independently examined and rejected petitioner's position. See, Burdick v. State, 584 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (en banc), review pending, no. 78,446 (habitual felon statute applies to burglary with a firearm); Lock v. State, 582 So.2d 819 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) review pending, no. 78,472 (violent habitual felon statute applies to a first degree felony punishable by life); Westbrook v. State, 574 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), review pending, no. 77,788 (habitual felon statute applies to robbery with a deadly weapon); Newton v. State, 581 So.2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (habitual felon statute applies to first degree felonies punishable by life, but not to life felonies); and Paige v. State, 570 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (habitual felon statute applies to kidnapping).

It is clear from the above that the legislature has made all first degree felonies, including those punishable by life, subject to habitual felon sentencing. To read the statute otherwise would lead to the absurd result that the most serious first degree felonies, those punishable by life imprisonment,

- 7 -

would not be subject to habitual offender sentencing while less serious felonies would be. <u>See</u>, <u>Williams v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1986) ("It is a basic tenet of statutory construction that statutes will not be interpreted so as to yield an absurd result."); <u>State v. Webb</u>, 398 So.2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981) ("Furthermore, construction of a statute which would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result or would render a statute purposeless should be avoided.").

The certified question should be answered yes.

ISSUE II

DID THE DISTRICT COURT HAVE JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN THIS DIRECT APPEAL FROM A NO CONTEST PLEA AND A NEGOTIATED SENTENCE WHICH RESERVED NO ISSUE FOR APPEAL?

Jurisdiction, including that of a lower court, to hear a case may be raised at anytime. Roberts v. Seaboard Surety Co., 158 Fla. 686, 29 So.2d 743 (1947). The state argued below that there was no constitutional or statutory right to appeal from a no contest plea where no issues were reserved for appeal and where the defendant received a negotiated sentence which fell within the statutory maximum. The District Court rejected the state's position holding that Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979) granted the right to appeal <u>all</u> sentences entered pursuant to a plea bargain for the purposes of determining whether the sentence was illegal. Ford v. State, 575 So.2d 1335 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 581 So.2d 1318 (Fla. 1991).

that such appellants The court reasoned were Ford constitutionally entitled to the assistance of appellate counsel and that appellate courts were required to have a full record on appeal and the benefit of briefs on the merits from the parties before determining whether it had jurisdiction. This is contrary to the usual rule that jurisdiction is the threshold, not the residual issue, and the standard practice of courts, e.g., this Court, to first determine tentative jurisdiction before even permitting briefing on the merits.

Because of its sweep, <u>Ford</u> has created a large and growing number of appeals from no contest or guilty pleas even when the sentence imposed is consistent with the plea bargain, the sentencing guidelines, and the statutorily authorized penalty for the offense. As applied, <u>Ford</u> operates independently to create a right to appeal <u>all</u> sentences even when neither of the two grounds authorized by the Legislature in subsections 924.06(1)(d) and (e) is present: (1) illegal sentence or (2) departure from sentencing guidelines.

A corollary of the expansive Ford holding that all facially valid sentences are appealable on grounds of illegality is that it eviscerates the long-standing rule, so critical to the viability of the appellate process, that issues must be preserved and raised in the trial court. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). It would be difficult to conceive a ruling more destructive of the appellate system than the circular reasoning of Ford and its progeny: (1) Robinson permits appeals from illegal sentences following a plea bargain, (2) illegality of a sentence may be raised at anytime, therefore (3) sentencing issues couched in terms of illegality may be raised even though they were not raised below because (4) any sentence may be illegal and (5) illegality, and the jurisdictional right to appeal, cannot be determined without the assignment of appellate, not merely trial, counsel and full briefing and appellate review on the merits, therefore (6) Robinson permits appeals from all sentences and all sentencing issues, even those not preserved or reserved below. For a concise, current example of an ongoing

- 10 -

<u>Ford</u> appeal, see the attached state's response (appendix) to a request for a third thirty-day extension in <u>Munn v. State</u>, a case being handled by opposing counsel's office.

The idiosyncratic approach to jurisdiction of Ford requires a superfluity of judges and appellate lawyers to search for, and address if necessary, hypothetical issues on the merits which cannot be reached when it is discovered, eventually, that there was no jurisdiction to hear the case or the issues. See, Kearney v. State, 579 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (State's motion to dismiss prior to briefing denied on authority of Ford; after briefing and review, appeal dismissed for lack of jurisdiction, as originally argued by state.). There cannot and should not be sufficient public funding for such a gross waste of judicial and executive branch resources, particularly in times such as the present when reductions or elimination of critical judicial system functions are either occurring or being considered. Consider for the moment what would happen to the capability of this Court and the lawyers practicing before it to handle their caseload if briefs on the merits were required prior to tentatively determining jurisdiction, as in, e.g., conflict With that insight in mind, it is easy to understand why cases. the Appellate Public Defender for the Second Judicial Circuit is currently unable to timely handle appeals and must routinely obtain four or more extensions of thirty days before initial briefs are filed. This condition, which can fairly be described a breakdown of the system pursuant to In re Order on as Prosecution of Criminal Appeals by the Tenth Judicial Circuit

- 11 -

<u>Public Defender</u>, 561 So.2d 1130 (Fla. 1990), exists despite substantial additional resources given to that office and the withdrawal from hundreds of appeals. <u>Day v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 1003 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) and predecessor cases cited therein.

The case at hand is illustrative of the Ford fallacies. The parties themselves entered into a facially valid sentencing agreement which the trial court accepted on 9 October 1990. Despite the absence of any preserved issues or jurisdictional basis for the appeal, Ford, who voluntarily entered into the agreement in the trial court, has been permitted for well over a year to challenge the voluntary agreement in an appellate court without being required to seek the most basic legal remedy: a motion to withdraw the plea in the trial court where it was voluntarily entered. In the trial court, Ford urged the court to accept the plea he had negotiated and voluntarily entered. In the appellate court, he completely shifts his position and argues that the plea agreement he negotiated and pressed on the lower court is actually illegal. All of this, purportedly on the authority of Robinson, which specifically mandates that appellate courts cannot address the validity of a voluntary plea until a motion to withdraw the plea is filed in the trial court. Innumerable hours of appellate counsel, judges, and support personnel have been needlessly consumed in this senseless undertaking which has twice required the attention of the highest This is particularly egregious because, as court in the state. will be developed on Issue III below, the threshold question of whether Ford himself wishes to withdraw the plea can only be

- 12 -

properly answered by Ford raising the issue in the trial court by a motion to withdraw the plea. <u>Ford</u> not only permits unpreserved issues to be raised for the first time on appeal, it permits an appellant, such as Ford here, to take completely contradictory positions.

The state urges the court to hold, contrary to <u>Ford</u>, that the only appealable sentencing issues following a guilty or unreserved nolo plea are:

(1) those which depart from the sentencing guidelines(§924.06(1)(e)); or

(2) those which exceed or fall below the statutorily authorized sentence (924.06(1)(d)); or

(3) those which have been expressly reserved or preserved in the trial court and are legally dispositive of the legality of the sentence. <u>Robinson</u>, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 373 So.2d 382 (Fla. 1979).

The latter point (3) is addressed to those instances where the claim of illegality requires going behind the facial legality of the sentence. The state also suggests that it is not too demanding of the professional skills of members of The Florida Bar practicing as a defense or appellate counsel to require them to recognize sentences which are arguably illegal or depart from the sentencing guidelines and to require that such issues be presented in the trial court where, if error, they can be immediately corrected. Should negligence occur, as it sometimes will, there are adequate remedies under rules 3.800 or 3.850.

- 13 -

Ford should be expressly disapproved and this appeal dismissed for lack of jurisdiction in the district court without prejudice to petitioner's right to move to withdraw the plea in the trial court.

ISSUE III

DOES SECTION 775.084 MANDATE A LIFE SENTENCE FOR HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDERS AND, IF SO, DOES THIS RENDER THE SENTENCE AND PLEA BARGAIN ILLEGAL?

Appellate counsel first raised this issue in his belated petition for rehearing. The district court declined to address this untimely argument, noting not only that it was untimely but that no motion to withdraw the plea had been filed.

Addressing first the question of whether section 775.084 mandates a life sentence for habitual felons of the first degree, it is the state's position that once habitual offender sentencing is selected, that the statutory language in section 775.084(4) mandates a life sentence for first degree felonies. See <u>Burdick</u> <u>v. State</u>, 584 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) and the state's brief in that case; <u>Donald v. State</u>, 562 So.2d 792, 795 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

The state is surprised that appellate counsel would attempt to raise this issue because it seems contrary to the interests of his client. A reading of the plea and sentencing hearing shows that Ford's trial counsel appeared to be very pleased at obtaining a reduction in the charges and a ten-year habitual violent offender sentence. She had good reason to be pleased given the reduction in the charges, the potential length of a guidelines sentence, and the fact that section 775.084(4)(b)1, under which Ford was sentenced, requires a life sentence with a fifteen-year minimum mandatory. <u>Donald</u>. Presumably, Ford was

- 15 -

also pleased, in that the trial court examined the plea and Ford pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172 and determined that the plea was voluntary. Unless Ford personally wants to abrogate the plea bargain, appellate counsel's arguments are contrary to Ford's interest.

The state suggests it was wise of the district court below to decline to address this late-rising argument of appellant counsel. First, it was clearly untimely and attorneys should be discouraged from such practices. More significantly, however, petitioner Ford is personally entitled to enter into, or move to withdraw from, a plea bargain. It cannot be done on his behalf by counsel. The record shows that Ford personally entered into the plea bargain. The appropriate remedy if <u>he</u> wishes to withdraw is to file a motion in the trial court.

It may well be that appellate counsel has consulted with his client, advised Ford that he should attempt to challenge the legality of the plea, and obtained directions from the client to challenge the plea itself, as is being done here by appellate counsel. However, if this argument is to be addressed by the court, rather than requiring a motion to withdraw in the trial court, the state submits that the interests of both Ford and the state must be protected by requiring a certified communication from Ford that he has been advised of his legal rights by Counsel Gifford and has determined that it is in his best interest to challenge, and abrogate, the plea bargain. Such certification is necessary, in the absence of a motion to withdraw in the trial court, if Ford's legal rights are to be preserved.

- 16 -

This certified communication is also necessary to protect the interests of the state. If appellate counsel succeeds in abrogating the plea, with an unhappy result for Ford, we can expect the ubiquitous claim of ineffective assistance of counsel which would be difficult to refute if accurately grounded on appellate counsel overturning, without authority from the client, a favorable plea bargain personally entered into by the client and his trial counsel.

As a matter of professional principle, the state will not attempt to abrogate the plea bargain entered into in good faith by the state attorney and Ford and his defense counsel and accepted by the trial court. For purposes of responding to opposing counsel's untimely and improvident argument, the state agrees that a trial court which invokes section 775.084(4)(b)1 must sentence the habitual felon to life and cannot legally sentence him to a lesser sentence of, e.g., ten years. Should the plea bargain be abrogated by Ford, or his counsel, which will return the parties to their pre-bargain status, the state reserves its right to fully prosecute and sentence Ford without regard to the terms of the abrogated plea bargain. But see Bashlor v. State, 16 FLW D2533 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Right of defendant to challenge plea bargain of "illegal" sentence is restricted).

The state urges the court to decline to address this argument without prejudice to the right of Ford to move to withdraw the plea in trial court after receiving consultation and advice of counsel.

- 17 -

CONCLUSION

The court should hold that first degree felonies punishable by life are first degree felonies subject to habitual offender sentencing by answering the certified question yes.

The court should disapprove <u>Ford</u>, restrict its holding as argued herein, and dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction in the district court..

The court should not address the untimely argument that the ten-year sentence is illegal because a life sentence was mandatory.